
 

 
 

  
 
 

Customers and Corporate 
Directorate 
DDaavviidd  WWiillccoocckk  

HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall  aanndd  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  RReeffoorrmm  
Governance  & Committee Services 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee 

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway 
Telephone:   
Date: Friday, 26 June 2015 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
Planning and Licensing Committee 
 

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Monday, 6th July 2015 
commencing at 6.15 pm. 
 

The agenda and supporting papers are attached.  
 

Please note that a site visit has been arranged for Members of the 
Committee as follows:- Greengate Hill Farm, Ashworth Road  - Please meet 
at back entrance of Number One Riverside at 4.15pm 
 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours Faithfully 

 
 

David Wilcock 
Head of Legal and Governance Reform 
 
Planning and Licensing Committee Membership 2015/16 
Councillor Allen Brett 
Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor Pat Greenall 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Aasim Rashid 
Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor Carol Wardle 
Councillor June West

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

 
Rochdale Borough Council 

 
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
Monday, 6 July 2015 at 6.15 pm 

 
Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 

Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Apologies for Absence 

1. Declarations of Interest  1 - 3 

 Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.   
 
Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Submitted Planning Applications  4 - 19 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25
TH

 JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS). 

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE 

MEETING AND DATE 

 

……………………………. 

 

Agenda item 

Indicate either 

• Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR 

• Personal Interest OR 

• Personal and Prejudicial interest 

Nature of Interest 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 

LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE. 

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING 

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.   

Contracts 
 

Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council -  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer. 

Corporate Tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -  
(a) the landlord is the Council: and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and 
(b) either – 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
Personal Interests 
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect -  
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(b)  any body - 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),  
of which you are in a position of general control or management; 
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25. 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would  reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business - 
(a)  Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or 
 (b)  Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above. 
 
 
MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25

TH
 JULY 2012. 

 Page 3



 
 
  
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication 

Report to:  Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
  

Date:         6 July 2015  

Report of: Director of Economy and Environment 
 
Author: See individual agenda reports 
 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or related 

consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration and/or determination 
of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s approved Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related matters which 

may affect the work of the Committee. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as detailed in the 

following papers. 
 

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in accordance with the 

provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 
2008, Localism Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.   

 
3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where relevant, 
any such material considerations will be referred to in the report. 

 
 

     The Development Plan 
 
3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed against the 

relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the Borough (currently the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) and any Supplementary Planning 
Documents or Guidance adopted by the Council.   

 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a requirement to 
have regard to relevant national policies as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a material consideration.  Where relevant, 
the provisions of the NPPF and any other relevant national guidance will be referred to 
in the report. 

 
4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers dealing with 

Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have full regard to the Code 
in discharging their responsibilities and duties in relation to planning matters on behalf 
of the Council.  The Code seeks to ensure that all decision making is governed by an 
open and transparent process and represents a standard against which the conduct of 
Officers and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   

 
4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the commencement of the 

Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any Member sitting on the Committee ought to 
declare any interest on any item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.   

 
4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code of Conduct.    
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 

 
5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning applications on 

their individual merits having regard to the development plan and other material 
planning considerations. 

 
5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of certain 

characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These protected 
characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage or Civil 
Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual 
Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 

 
5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the effects of its 

decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, including a duty to make 
reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all material planning considerations, 
including Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
all opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.   

 
5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on relevant 

planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be included within the 
reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in designing access when dealing with 
the planning applications. Where applicable, any issues relating to these matters or 
other equal opportunity matters will be referred to in individual planning application 
reports. 

 
6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 
 
6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of the Human 

Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those third parties, including 
local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to 
this end the Committee must give full consideration to their comments. 

Page 5



 
6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s home, other 

land and business assets.  In taking account of all material considerations, including 
Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan, the Director (Economy and 
Environment) has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that 
might be affected may be interfered with but that that interference is in accordance with 
the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights 
posed by approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

 
 

Background Papers 
 

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on this agenda 
will include:- 

 
 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 
 
 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with scaled 

drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 
ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have been consulted 

or commented on the planning application 
iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received and of 

relevance to the submitted proposal 
  

 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the application 
file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 

 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports on planning 

applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 
 
       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of relevance to 

the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted planning applications or related 
consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at:  
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 
 

 
 
 

Page 6



Application Number: 15/00364/FUL    Ward: Norden       
 

 
Proposal: Partial demolition and conversion of existing agricultural building to form one 
dwelling including two storey and single storey extensions (Resubmission of 
14/01458/FUL) 
 

Site Address: Greengate Hill Farm  Ashworth Road Heywood Rochdale OL11 5UN 
 

Applicant: Mr & Mrs B McKay 
                   
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Refuse 
 

 
 
DELEGATION 
 
Councillor James Gartside called in the application to the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee on the grounds that the proposal seeks to bring an agricultural building back into 
use.  At the meeting on 18th June 2015, the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee was 
minded to approve the application contrary to the officer recommendation, subject to 
amendments to the proposed elevations. The application is referred to the Planning and 
Licensing Committee in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation as a decision to approve 

Page 7



the application would be contrary to a previous decision of the Council. The Planning and 
Licensing Committee may approve or refuse the application on reasonable planning grounds.    
 
The Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee requested that the applicant revise the 
design and appearance of the proposed development to address the overly domestic 
appearance of the proposed elevations. The applicant’s agent has revised the proposed 
elevations accordingly and the window detailing, proportions and the number of openings as 
amended are less domestic in appearance. However, these amendments do not alter the 
officers views that the overall size, height, scale, design and massing of the proposed 
extensions represent inappropriate development in the green belt.   
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to part of the site known as Greengate Hill Farm, located within the 
green belt off Ashworth Road, Heywood. The application site comprises of part of a two storey 
barn and the attached single storey concrete blockwork building. The L-shaped, two storey 
barn is finished externally in natural stone to the eastern, southern and western elevations, and 
a combination of brick and stone to the north-facing elevation, with large stone quoins forming 
the corners.  The roof of the barn is finished in blue slate and the barn is present on the 
Council’s 1893 historical map. As a result of its age and appearance, the barn is considered to 
be a non-designated heritage asset in this rural setting. The barn is presently used for storage, 
with the attached concrete blockwork barn appearing to be last used for accommodating 
livestock. 
 
Outside of the submitted site edged red, but attached to the southern elevation of the two 
storey barn to which the application relates, is the two storey farmhouse of Greengate Hill 
Farm, which is finished in white render.  Directly to the north of the application site is a large 
two storey timber clad Dutch-barn and a single storey steel framed covered area.  
 
This pocket of buildings, both inside and outside the site edged red, forms the extent of the 
Greengate Hill farmyard, with the area enclosed by a combination of fencing and dry stone 
walls. Beyond these, the site is otherwise surrounded by open fields. Surrounding uses include 
a combination of working and former farms, the closest of which is Sandy Ford Farm located on 
the opposite side of Ashworth Road some 60 metres to the south. 
 
Access to the site is obtained via a lane from Ashworth Road to the south. This lane splits into 
a V-shape at the junction with the Greengate Hill Farmhouse, with the eastern access leading 
to the farm buildings and the associated hard surfaced area. The western route leads around 
the back of the barn buildings and provides access to the fields beyond.  A public right of way 
traverses this route and leads east and north east beyond the north of this site.   
 
Planning permission was granted in 2010 for the change of use and conversion of the original 
two storey stone barn into two dwellings, including the demolition of the attached single storey 
concrete barn (10/D52851) however this permission was not implemented.   In February 2015, 
an application for part demolition and conversion of part of the stone barn to form a dwelling, 
including two storey and single storey extensions was refused (14/01458/FUL). The reasons for 
refusal are detailed in the ‘Relevant Planning History’ section of this report 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks permission to convert part of the existing traditional two storey barn to a 
residential dwelling, including the demolition of the existing single storey concrete blockwork 
barn and the erection of both single and two storey extensions following the demolition of the 
blockwork barn.   
 

Page 8



Conversion of the existing two storey barn to residential relates to the western half of this 
building with the eastern section remaining as a barn, and this eastern section is not included 
in the site edged red on the resubmission. This part of the proposal involves the creation of a 
first floor inside the building, the installation of two windows in the northeast facing elevation 
and the reinstatement of an opening in the first floor of the northwest facing gable elevation.  
 
The application also involves the complete demolition of the single storey concrete blockwork 
barn, and this would be replaced by both single and two storey extensions. The two storey 
extension would project 7.4m out from the existing two storey barn and would measure 6.4m 
wide. The two storey extension would have a pitched roof design with the ridge set at the 
same height as, but running perpendicular to, the ridge of the existing two storey barn. The 
two storey extension would contain a number of window and door openings in the west and 
east facing elevations.     
 
Attached to the northern end of the two storey extension would be a further single storey 
extension. This would extend a further 3.9m for a width of 6.4m. The single storey section 
would have a pitched roof design and provide a garage. The application also includes a single 
storey front porch measuring 3.7m by 1.8m and this would be attached to both the existing two 
storey barn to be converted and the proposed two storey extension.  
 
The proposed extensions would be constructed with natural stone and a blue slate roof. The 
proposed development would provide a kitchen, a dining room, lounge, WC, cloak room, utility 
room, entrance porch and integral garage at ground floor. At first floor level the proposal would 
provide three bedrooms (with two en-suite shower rooms), a bathroom and a dressing room.  
The application includes no details as to the external areas such as specific areas for parking 
or garden, except for a sentence in the design and access statement that the existing yard will 
be used as a private garden and for parking.   
 
The principle of the application is the same as the previous refused proposal (14/01458/FUL) 
however the resubmission has reduced the size of the proposed two storey and single storey 
side extensions by approximately 200m³.   
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
 
G/D/2   Green Belt 
D/4   Control of Development in Green Belt – General  
D/9   Re-use and Adaptation of Buildings in Rural Areas 
 

Page 9



G/H/1              Housing 
H/3  Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/9   New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10   New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/BE/1  Design Quality 
BE/2   Design Criteria for New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/4  Protected Species  
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): Supplementary Planning Guidance note 
‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
Earliest Decision Date: 18 May 2015 
Revised Expiry Date:  No extension agreed   
 
Site Notice: General Site Notice Date Displayed: 16 April 2015 
 
RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
10/D52851 - Change of use and conversion of barn into two dwellings – granted. 
 
13/00057/ANM - Non material amendment to planning permission D52851 for alterations to 
elevations of barn including: - the installation of roof lights to southern roof plane,  
repositioning of first floor window on south facing elevation, revised window/door design to 
openings on north facing elevation and installation of external chimney stacks to east and west 
sides of building – granted. 
 
14/01458/FUL - Partial demolition and conversion of existing agricultural building to form one 
dwelling including two storey and single storey extensions – refused for following reasons:  
 

1. The application site occupies a remote location in the countryside, with access to the 
nearest services/village obtained via narrow and unlit roads. The nearest services 
would be within Norden Village Centre, some 5.4 kilometres from the application site 
via public roads, and as such the occupants of the proposed dwelling would be heavily 
reliant on the private motor vehicle for transport. The proposed extensions and 
alterations are tantamount to the erection of a new dwelling in the countryside, which 
would be contrary to Paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework, which 
advises Local Planning Authorities to avoid allowing new isolated homes in the 
countryside unless there are special circumstances. The applicant has demonstrated 
no special circumstances and as such the proposal is contrary to the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

2. The proposed extensions to the existing barn to facilitate its conversion into a two 
storey dwelling, would alter the basic character and appearance of the building and its 
contribution to the landscape. The re-use and extensions to the existing building would 
be tantamount to the creation of a new dwelling, and would have a materially greater 
impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Green Belt and purposes of 
including land within it than what current exists on this site. The applicant has 
demonstrated no very special circumstances to justify this inappropriate development 
in the green belt and therefore the proposal is therefore contrary to Unitary 
Development Plan Policy D/9 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 10



 
3. The proposal, by virtue of the size, height, design and massing of the proposed 

extensions, including the installation of a significant number unsympathetic window and 
door openings, would be seriously detrimental to the traditional character of the rural 
surroundings and the host property. The proposal is therefore contrary to Unitary 
Development Plan Policy BE/2 which requires all new development to be compatible 
with their surroundings by virtue of architectural style and detail, and Policy D/4 which 
only permits development which do not prejudice, by reason of scale and design, the 
primary purposes and visual amenity of the Green Belt. 

 
4. The submitted application does not include a bat or bird survey in relation to the 

existing buildings which are to be demolished and converted, and therefore it cannot 
be reasonably demonstrated that the proposed development would not harm protected 
species. The proposal, as submitted, without the detailed surveys, fails to provide the 
opportunity for the development to be assessed against Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan Policy NE/3 (Biodiversity and Development), or national guidance 
contained within both the National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning 
Practice Guidance. 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways And Engineering – there is sufficient space within the site for dedicated off-street 
parking to be provided. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer – recommends standard conversion condition regarding potential 
contamination. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) – comment as follows: 
 
Bats 
 
The buildings consist of a former barn with an attached animal shelter, located within the farm 
complex.  The survey comprised of an internal and external inspection of the buildings 
together with a dusk emergence survey on 5th May 2015.  No bats or signs of bats were found 
during the internal and external inspection and no bats were found to emerge from either of 
the buildings during the dusk emergence survey.  The report concluded that both the barn and 
the animal shelter had a negligible potential to support daytime roosting bats and assessed as 
having a low potential for other roosting use.  Work can therefore commence on the two 
buildings with a minimal risk to roosting bats.  However a number of recommendations have 
been made as  field signs for the crevice dwelling bats such as the Common pipistrelle bat are 
not always visible.  Droppings often accumulate in hidden areas which may not be found 
during routine non-invasive surveys.  It is therefore recommended that the ridge tiles and 
slates or sheeting over walls be removed carefully by hand with the presence of bats borne in 
mind.  A condition to this effect should be placed on any permission, if granted. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, bats are mobile in their habits and can turn up in the most unlikely 
places.  If bats are found at any time during works then works should cease immediately and 
advice sought from Natural England or a suitably qualified bat worker.  We would therefore 
suggest that an informative to this effect be placed on any permission. 
 
Birds 
 
The buildings have the potential to support nesting birds and several unoccupied swallows 
nests were found inside the roof of the animal shelter.  The original survey also referred to a 
bird box attached to the south west wall of the barn, which had blue tits present with 
dependant young.   The trees and shrubs around the perimeter of the site also have the 

Page 11



potential to support nesting birds.  All birds, with the exception of certain pest species, and 
their nests are protected under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). We would therefore recommend that works to the buildings and to any of the 
surrounding trees/shrubs, including pruning, should not be undertaken in the main bird 
breeding season (March to July inclusive), unless birds are found to be absent by a suitably 
qualified person.  We would therefore suggest that a condition to this effect be placed on any 
permission, if granted, in order to protect wild birds. 
 
Biodiversity Enhancement 
 
In line with Section 11 of the NPPF, we would recommend that opportunities for biodiversity 
enhancement be incorporated into the new development.  These should include:  

� Bat bricks and/or tubes within the new development 

� Bat boxes 

� Bird boxes (particularly swallow) 
 
In conclusion we are satisfied that the application can be forwarded for determination and that 
any permission if granted is supported by the conditions/informative above. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and a notice positioned close to the 
site. No representations have been received. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Residential Development 
 
Planning permission was granted in March 2010 for the conversion of the existing traditional 
stone barn to two dwellings, with the associated demolition of the blockwork barn.  Whereas 
previously, the application proposed the conversion of the entire stone barn to two separate 
dwellings, the current application seeks to convert approximately half of this barn to one 
residential dwelling, with significant extensions, and retain the other half for storage.  The 
current application therefore differs significantly to the previous application – in particular, it 
proposes significant extensions to a barn in the green belt to facilitate its conversion.   
 
The previous application was assessed against the policies in the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan; however Members will be aware that the introduction of the NPPF in 
March 2012 represents a significant material change in circumstance. At the heart of the 
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be seen as a 
golden thread running through both plan-making and decision-taking. There are three 
dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. The 
environmental role includes minimising waste and moving to a low carbon economy, focusing 
significant development in locations which are sustainable and making fullest use of public 
transport.  
 
Annex 1 of the NPPF establishes that the introduction of the NPPF has not changed the legal 
requirement that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, with paragraph 211 
making it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not 
be considered out-of date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the 
Framework. However, under paragraph 212 it is also clear that the policies contained in the 
framework are material considerations which local planning authorities should take into 
account, and under paragraph 215, due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing 
plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework, and the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight that may be given.  

Page 12



 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that to promote sustainable development in rural areas, 
housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities, 
for example where development in one village may support services in a village nearby. The 
NPPF states that local planning authorities should avoid new isolated homes in the 
countryside unless there are special circumstances such as:   

� the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work 
in the countryside; or 

� where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets; or 

� where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and lead to an 
enhancement to the immediate setting; or 

� the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling. Such a design 
should: 

– be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design more 
generally in rural areas; 

– reflect the highest standards in architecture; 
– significantly enhance its immediate setting; and 
– be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework is therefore clear that new isolated homes in the 
countryside should be avoided unless a proposal complies with the special circumstances 
listed above.  Greengate Hill Farm is located some 2 kilometres in a straight line from the 
nearest local services within Norden Village Centre. However, in terms of distance via public 
roads this journey measures approximately 5.4 kilometres and would involve travelling along 
narrow and unlit sections of the rural highway.  Ashworth Road is not served by any existing 
bus routes and the nearest bus stops to the proposed site would be on Bury Road (to the 
south of site) or Edenfield Road (to the north). Accessing these bus stops by foot would 
involve walking over 3 kilometres along unlit rural highways, with no designated pedestrian 
pavements, or via public rights of way across the Ashworth Valley.  The application site in 
isolated in respect of access to shops, services and modes of public transport, and the 
residents of the proposed dwelling would be solely reliant on private motor vehicles for 
transport.   
 
The dwelling is not proposed to satisfy the essential need of a rural worker, nor is it proposed 
to meet recognised local need.  Given the extent of the alterations and extensions proposed, 
the development would be tantamount to the erection of a new dwelling in this rural location 
and the proposal would not satisfy any of the special circumstances set out in paragraph 55.   
 
With all of the above in mind, the proposal is tantamount to the erection of a new dwelling in a 
remote green belt location.  The NPPF states that local planning authorities should avoid new 
isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances.  The proposal does 
not comply with the special circumstances set out in paragraph 55 and as such, the principle 
of the development in this location is therefore contrary to the National Planning Policy 
Framework.   
 
Green Belt Policy Context 
 
The application falls within an area allocated as Green Belt under the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan. Chapter 9 of the NPPF is therefore relevant to any proposal for the site 
and under paragraph 80, the five purposes of the Green Belt are outlined as: 

- To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas,  

- To prevent neighbouring town merging into one another, 

- To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, 

- To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns, and  

Page 13



- To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
urban land. 

 
Paragraph 87 of the NPPF then goes onto say that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
Furthermore, under paragraph 88 it is established that substantial weight should be given to 
any harm to the Green Belt and ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 
 
It must be recognised that not all development in the Green Belt is inappropriate, and these 
exceptions are established in paragraph 89 of the NPPF as: 
 

- Buildings for agriculture and forestry, 

- Provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation and for 
cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it.  

- The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building,  

- The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces,  

- Limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community need 
under policies set out in the local plan, or 

- Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use, on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it than the existing development.  

 
Paragraph 90 of the NPPF continues in this vein and establishes that certain other forms of 
development are also not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they preserve openness 
and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in it. These are: 

- Mineral extraction 

- Engineering operations 

- Local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt 
location.  

- The re-use of buildings provided that the building are of permanent and substantial 
construction, and 

- Development bough forward under a Community Right to Build Order.  
 
The above NPPF policies are the most up-to-date in regards to Green Belt development. 
Nonetheless, the Council’s UDP still contains relevant policies (G/D/2 and D/4) which advises 
that other than certain exceptions (which are similar to those provided in paragraph 90 of the 
NPPF), development in the Green Belt will not be approved, except in very special 
circumstances.  
 
Whilst the re-use of existing buildings is one of the identified forms of appropriate development 
in the green belt, as noted above, this proposal includes significant extensions and alterations 
to the original barn.  These are disproportionate to the size of the original building and the 
proposal therefore represents inappropriate development in the green belt that should not be 
supported unless ‘very special circumstances’ can be demonstrated to ensure that the harm to 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.  
 
In light of the above, one of the principal considerations under this application is whether there 
are any material considerations sufficient to clearly outweigh the harm the development would 

Page 14



cause to the openness of the Green Belt, by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm, 
thereby justifying the application on the basis of very special circumstances.  
 
Of particular relevance to the above, the recent Court of Appeal judgement in Redhill 
Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government established that 
‘any other harm’ in paragraph 88 of the NPPF (i.e. non-Green Belt harm) can be taken into 
account in the weighing exercise of the planning balance as to determining whether or not 
very special circumstances outweigh the harm to the Green belt by inappropriateness or any 
other harm.  
 
This recent Court of Appeal judgment is an important reminder that under paragraph 88 of the 
NPPF, when considering any planning application concerning proposed development in the 
Green Belt, local planning authorities should continue to ensure that substantial weight is 
given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will only be demonstrated in 
circumstances where the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.   
 
Although Policy D/9 (Re-Use and Adaptation of Buildings in Rural Areas) of the adopted 
Unitary Development Plan does not include reference to locational criteria set out in the NPPF, 
many of the criteria set out in this policy remain relevant. This policy states that the re-use and 
adaptation of buildings outside the defined urban area will be permitted provided the following 
criteria are met: 

a. Where the site is within the Green Belt, the re-use or adaptation does not have a 
materially greater impact than the previous use on the openness of the Green Belt 
and the purpose of including land within it. 

b. The application building is of a permanent and substantial construction and is capable 
of conversion to a new use without major or complete reconstruction.   

c. The building is large enough for the proposal use without the need for extensions of a 
size and design that would alter the basic character and appearance of the building or 
its contribution to the landscape. 

d. The building can be capable of being provided with satisfactory means of access, 
services and ancillary facilities, such as hardstandings, gardens, fences, walls, etc., 
without a significant impact on landscapes character, the setting of the building or, 
where it falls within the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it: and 

e. The proposed use is compatible with adjacent land-uses and other policies/proposals 
of the Plan. 

 
Policy D/9 clearly requires the building to be converted to be large enough for the proposed 
use without the need for extensions of a size that would alter the basic character and 
appearance of the building and its contribution to the landscape. The existing two storey barn 
is large in size, so large in fact that it was previously granted planning permission for 
conversion to two dwellings without the need to extend. The current application does not seek 
to utilise the whole of the two storey barn, instead it seeks to retain half of this traditional stone 
barn for storage proposes and would provide additional living space by way of a large 
extension which would create a substantial single dwellinghouse. The proposed dwelling 
house, on its own, would be larger than the cumulative size of the two dwellings previously 
approved at this location in 2010. The remainder of the two storey barn, which the applicant 
states will be used for storage, is itself considered to be easily large enough to be converted 
into a single dwelling in the future without undue harm to the green belt, as with the current 
application.   
 
The NPPF does allow for the limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of 
previously developed sites (brownfield land) within the green belt where the development 
would not have a greater impact upon the openness of the green belt. In this case, the former 
use of the site and buildings was agricultural use – and land occupied by agricultural buildings 
is excluded from the definition of previously developed land (NPPF definition: Annex 2).  As 

Page 15



mentioned above, the application seeks to replace an existing single storey barn with both two 
storey and single storey extensions in association with the proposed conversion to residential 
use. The two storey extension would result in an increased ridge height in comparison to the 
existing barn and its residential character/appearance, being constructed in natural stone with 
a slate roof, would result in a materially greater impact upon the openness of the green belt as 
a result of it being highly visible from the surrounding open fields.  The design of the 
alterations is also out of character with the typical rural character. This is not only contrary to 
the NPPF, but also criterion (a) of UDP Policy D/9.  
 
In addition, whilst paragraph 89 of the NPPF identifies that the extension or alteration of a 
building can be considered appropriate provided that it does not result in disproportionate 
additions over and above the size of the original building, this proposal significantly exceeds 
what could be considered appropriate.  Whilst not strictly an extension to a residential 
property, as a point of reference, the residential development SPG advises that a 30% 
increase would be considered appropriate in respect of an extension to an existing dwelling in 
the green belt.  The blockwork barn is not included in this calculation as it is not original and is 
excluded from the definition of brownfield land in the NPPF, and the two storey and single 
storey extension would significantly exceed the 30% if this proposal was for an extension to an 
existing residential property.   
 
Paragraph 89 of the NPPF requires substantial weight to be given to any harm to the green 
belt.  There are no special circumstances in this case that would justify the harm to the green 
belt by reason of inappropriateness and harm to openness and as such, the proposal is 
contrary to Policies D/4, D/9 and the NPPF.   
 
Design, Character and Appearance 
 
Notwithstanding the above concerns regarding the visual impact of the proposal on the 
openness of the green belt, the size, height, design and massing of the two storey extensions 
are considered to be significantly out of keeping with the character of the adjoining dwelling 
and the traditional stone barn itself.   
 
As mentioned in the ‘Update’ section of this report, members of Rochdale Planning Sub 
Committee raised concerns in relation to the ‘overly domestic’ appearance of the proposed 
dwelling and it was felt that the development would be more suitable if it  reflected the design 
of a barn conversion. The applicant’s agent has revised the application in line with the views 
expressed by members, removing windows and altering the fenestration design and thus 
Officers are now of the opinion that the number of window openings, and their proportions, are 
considered to be more akin to a barn conversion and acceptable from that point of view. 
However, altering the window design has not overcome the overall design reason for refusal in 
that the proposed extensions are still considered to be too large and represent 
disproportionate additions to the original barn, which would detract from the character of the 
rural area. As such, whilst the revised window design has improved the appearance of the 
proposed development, it has not overcome the design reason for refusal.         
 
In summary, the extensions and alterations proposed by this application, including the scale, 
massing, design and height of the extensions, are substantial and would be out of keeping 
with the rural character of the area and would detract from the character of the barn, contrary 
to Policies BE/2 and D/9 of the Rochdale UDP and the NPPF.          
 
Relationship with Surrounding Uses 
 
The application site adjoins an existing farmhouse and as such, the impact upon the residents 
of this property must be considered. The application seeks to convert an existing two storey 
barn, which is attached to the rear of this farmhouse, and the proposed extensions would be 
positioned on the other side of the existing barn resulting in them not being visible from the 

Page 16



adjoining house. A section of the existing barn can be seen from the adjoining house, however 
as this already exists the proposed residential use would have no greater impact through 
overshadowing and loss of daylight. Where the proposal may impact upon the adjoining 
residents is through the insertion of new windows openings in the section of the existing barn 
that can be seen from the neighbouring house. The application seeks to reinstate a single 
ground floor window opening in the only section of the existing barn that can be viewed, and 
this window will be a secondary window serving the kitchen area. The adjoining property has 
an obscurely glazed bathroom window closest to the proposed opening, as well as a stairwell 
window through which it would be possible to view this new opening. None of the windows 
involved would be habitable and as such, it is considered that the proposal shares an 
acceptable relationship with the adjoining residential property in terms of privacy.  
 
Directly to the north of the application site are two existing barns which are not within the 
applicant’s ownership. These barns are accessed via the track which leads to the proposed 
new dwelling and as such there is a slight concern that the future occupiers of the proposed 
dwelling may be unduly affected by the comings and goings/general activities associated with 
these two barns. With regard to this issue, the application includes the retention of an existing 
section of the barn, and therefore it would appear that the application site may itself retain 
some form of similar use, however no curtilage plan has been provided to demonstrate the 
curtilage of the proposed dwelling.  In this case, the level of activity at the site does not appear 
intensive and no undue amenity concerns were observed at the time of the site visit.  It is 
considered that the barns are in situ and the future occupiers of this house will be fully aware 
of this shared access arrangement when deciding to reside at this property. In summary, it 
should be expected that agricultural uses and activities are going to take place in the green 
belt and it is considered that the relationship between the application property and the 
surrounding uses is acceptable in respect of the amenity of the future occupants.             
 
Highways 
 
Notwithstanding the above concerns in respect of the isolated location of the site and the 
reliance of future occupants on the private car to access local facilities and services, highway 
safety and parking are matters for consideration.   Vehicular access to the proposed dwelling 
would be from the existing access to Greengate Hill Farm and sufficient car parking space 
would be provided within the curtilage of the proposed new dwellinghouse for at least two 
vehicles. The highway authority as raised no objection to the proposal and the development 
therefore complies with the requirements of Policies A/9 (New Development – Access for 
General Traffic) and A/10 (New Development – Provision of Parking) of the Rochdale UDP in 
this respect.   
 
Recreational Open Space 
 
Policy H/6 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan requires all developments, 
regardless of scale, to make a contribution to recreational open space provision in the 
Borough. Nevertheless, in November 2014, the Government made a policy announcement 
that tariff style planning obligations should not be applied to developments of 10 dwellings or 
fewer or with a floorspace of less than 1000sqm. The Council’s recreational open space policy 
is a tariff style planning obligation and as such is caught by this change in policy. Government 
guidance is also clear that where policies in a development plan (i.e. the UDP) are in conflict 
with national guidance that the national guidance should take precedence. 
 
As a consequence Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee determined at their 
meeting of 22nd December 2014 that the change to government policy should be implemented 
with immediate effect, granting a large number of planning applications which fell below this 
threshold (10 dwellings or fewer / 1000sqm or less) without a requirement for a S106 
agreement.  
 

Page 17



This development falls below the threshold at which government policy indicates tariff style 
S106 contributions should be sought and as such it is not considered appropriate to seek a 
recreational open space contribution for this development.   
 
Ecology 
 
The development proposed by the application has the potential to affect protected species that 
may be present.  Whilst the previously refused application was not accompanied by 
appropriate ecological surveys, these have now been submitted in support of the current 
application to address the fourth reason for refusal of the previous application.   
 
Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/4 (Protected Species) does not permit proposals which 
would affect National or European protected species unless it can be demonstrated that: 

a) There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 
b) Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and  

c) Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National European legislation.  

 
Paragraph 007 of the Natural Environment section of the NPPG confirms that under Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, all public authorities should 
have regard to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. Additionally Paragraph 118 of the NPPF 
states that LPAs should aim not only to conserve, but also enhance biodiversity.  
 
The submitted bat survey found no evidence or sign of bats during the internal and external 
inspections, however given not all signs of bats can be found during non-invasive surveys, the 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) has raised no objection subject to a condition 
requiring all roof slates and ridge tiles to be removed carefully by hand. GMEU also 
recommend an informative be attached which advises that if bats, or evidence of bats, are 
found at any time works should cease and advice should be obtained from either Natural 
England or a qualified bat worker.   
 
With regard to birds, GMEU are of the opinion that the building has potential for nesting and 
the survey found several unoccupied swallow nests. The previous survey also found nesting 
blue tits rearing young at the site.  The surrounding trees and shrubbery also have the 
potential for nesting birds and for these reasons, the Ecology Unit have requested that no 
works to the building or trees/shrubbery takes place during bird breeding season (March – 
July) unless birds are found to be absent.   
 
In addition to the above, GMEU comment that in line with Section 11 of the NPPF, the 
proposal offers the opportunity to enhance biodiversity by incorporated the following features 
in the development:   

� Bat bricks and/or tubes within the new development 

� Bat boxes 

� Bird boxes (particularly swallow) 
 
These features could be secured by condition of any permission.  Provided the above 
conditions are adhered to, it is considered that the development can take place without 
negatively impacting upon Protected Species in accordance with UDP Policy NE/4 and the 
NPPF.   
 
Conclusion 
 
The application proposes significant extensions to an existing barn in the green belt to 
facilitate its conversion to a dwelling and as such, the works are tantamount to the erection of 

Page 18



a new dwelling in the countryside in an isolated and unsustainable green belt location.  The 
proposal does not satisfy any of the special circumstances identified in paragraph 55 of the 
NPPF.  The future occupants of the dwelling would be heavily reliant on the private car to 
access local facilities and services, contrary to the objectives of the NPPF, which seeks to 
direct residential development to sustainable locations and make the fullest use of public 
transport.  The design, scale, height and massing of the proposal is unsympathetic to the 
character of the traditional stone barn to the detriment of its character and appearance and 
that of the surrounding area.  Furthermore, the proposed extensions and alterations represent 
disproportionate additions and are inappropriate development in the green belt, which is, by 
definition, harmful to the green belt and should only be approved in very special 
circumstances.  No very special circumstances have been presented to outweigh the harm 
that would arise by reason of inappropriateness and harm to the openness and character of 
the green belt.   
 
Whilst the current application has addressed the fourth reason for refusal of the previous 
application, significant concerns remain in respect of the three other reasons.  The proposal is 
tantamount to the erection of a new dwelling in a remote green belt location, which represents 
inappropriate development in the green belt and would significantly harm its openness and 
would also harm the character and appearance of the traditional stone barn and the rural area.  
Affording substantial weight to the harm to the green belt and other harm identified above, it is 
considered that the proposal does not comprise sustainable development and is contrary to 
Policies BE/2, D/4 and D/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  It is therefore recommended that planning permission be 
refused.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE for the following reasons:- 
 
1 The application site occupies a remote location in the countryside, with the nearest 

services within Norden Village Centre some 5.4 kilometres from the application site 
and accessed via narrow and unlit roads. Paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework advises Local Planning Authorities to avoid new isolated homes in the 
countryside unless there are special circumstances. The proposed extensions and 
alterations are tantamount to the erection of a new dwelling in the countryside and the 
future occupants would be heavily reliant on the private motor vehicle to access these 
services and facilities, contrary to the environmental role of sustainable development, 
which seeks to direct residential development to sustainable locations. The applicant 
has not demonstrated any special circumstances and as such, the proposal does not 
comprise sustainable development and is contrary to the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.   

 
2 The proposed extensions and alterations to the existing barn to facilitate its conversion 

into a two storey dwelling represent disproportionate additions to the original building 
and would be tantamount to the creation of a new dwelling in the Green Belt.  The 
proposal therefore comprises inappropriate development in the green belt, which is, by 
definition, harmful to the green belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.  Furthermore, by virtue of the size, scale, height, design and massing 
of the extensions and alterations, the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the 
openness and visual amenities of the Green Belt. No very special circumstances exist 
that would outweigh the significant harm to the green belt by reason of 
inappropriateness and any other harm.  The proposal is therefore contrary to Unitary 
Development Plan Policies D/4 and D/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Report Author Robert Major 

Page 19


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Submitted Planning Applications

